FILEDFILEDCourt of AppealsSUPREME COURTDivision II6/23/2025State of WashingtonBY SARAH R. PENDLETON6/20/2025 4:04 PMCLERKSUPREME COURT NO.______COURT OF APPEALS NO. 58295-3-IICase #: 1043121

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Liam Riley,

Petitioner/Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

City of Tacoma,

Respondent/Respondent/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James McCanna, WSBA	Kyle Berti, WSBA No. 57155
No. 22565	Catherine C. Clark, WSBA No. 21231
MCCANNA LAW	LAW OFFICE OF CATHERINE C. CLARK
P.O. Box 468	PLLC
Kingston, WA 98346-0468	110 Prefontaine Place South
Phone: (360) 297-4057	Suite 304
Email:	Seattle, WA 98104
jmccanna@mccannalaw.com	Phone: (206) 409-8938

A. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Liam Riley ("Mr. Riley") worked for the City of Tacoma for several years when, around 2018, he asked for an accommodation. The City bounced Mr. Riley back and forth between its Human Resources ("HR") office and its Disability and Leave Management ("DLM") office. During that time, those offices informed Mr. Riley that his condition could not be accommodated and/or that the basis for his request did not fall within the purview of the accommodation process. At times, Mr. Riley voiced his frustration and confusion. In any event, the City never took positive steps to assist Mr. Riley despite conceding he had a cognizable disability.

After Mr. Riley survived summary judgment on this point, the trial court granted the City's CR 50 halftime motion, finding Mr. Riley did not comply with the interactive process. Division Two, in a split opinion, affirmed the dismissal. In doing so, the majority misapplied the standard of review under CR 50 by taking the City's evidence in the light most favorable to them. Mr. Riley presented substantial evidence from which the jury could draw reasonable inferences to sustain a verdict in Mr. Riley's favor.

Last, Division Two did not address Mr. Riley's other issue on appeal, that the trial court erred in admitting old and irrelevant medical documentation under the exception in RCW 49.60.510.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mr. Riley is the Petitioner.

C. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

Mr. Riley seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4) of the Division Two Court of Appeals opinion filed on May 20, 2025. *Appendix A*.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the Court of Appeals misapplied the standard of review on a CR 50 motion by considering the City's defensive evidence in the light most favorable to them on Mr. Riley's WLAD claim?

2. Whether an employer's affirmative duty to accommodate under the WLAD can be excused as a matter of law based on alleged employee noncooperation, or whether such defenses present questions of fact for the jury, particularly where the employer acknowledges notice of disability but provides contradictory guidance to the employee, and does not take proactive steps to assist the employee?

3. Whether RCW 49.60.510's two-year limitation on medical record discovery applies where Mr. Riley sought a disability accommodation and has PTSD, or whether common mental health diagnoses create

3

"exceptional circumstances" that eviscerate the statute's privacy protections?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

Mr. Riley began working for the City of Tacoma as a fire and marine diesel mechanic in 2013 in the city's only fire garage. Slip Op. at 27. Between 2014 and 2016, Mr. Riley developed numerous health problems, and previous health concerns worsened, including pain, fatigue, mood swings, irritability, and anxiety. RP 241. He sought treatment from Dr. Norman Seaholm, his primary care physician. RP 241, 811. Mr. Riley told his supervisor, Mr. Don Voigt, about his health concerns, including how they worsened due to workplace stressors and harassment. RP 243-44. Mr. Voigt changed Riley's duties to accommodate his condition while allowing him to continue working. RP 243-44.

In 2018, Mr. Riley's workplace became increasingly hostile as his coworkers harassed him about his modified duties, calling him "Don's pet and his golden boy" and mocking his use of a cane. RP 244-45. Then, in June 2018, Mr. Riley suffered an anxiety attack and an episode of high blood pressure due to the work environment, including another coworker screaming at Mr. Riley. RP 253. An ambulance transported Mr. Riley because of his severe condition. RP 253-54. Between June 2018 and April 2020, Mr. Riley was taken to the ER six times. Slip \bullet p. at 28.

Dr. Seaholm wrote at least twelve letters repeatedly warning the City that workplace stress was causing Mr. Riley's medical emergencies and that continued exposure to the harassment posed a significant risk of exacerbating his conditions, which could cause stroke, heart attack, or death. Slip **O**p. at

 $\mathbf{5}$

48; RP 822-25, Ex. 2-14. Mr. Riley's mental health therapist, Karey Regala, and nurse practitioner, Anthony Stephens, also sent letters supporting his need for accommodation, given his reaction to the workplace harassment. Slip \bullet p. at 48.

In April 2019, Mr. Riley requested a workplace accommodation, specifically to be assigned "somewhere else in the city that is [a] safe and healthy work environment." RP 824-26; Ex. 140 at 5. Dr. Seaholm and Mr. Riley's mental health therapist, Karey Regala, completed medical questionnaires provided by the City, which supported their request. Slip Op. at 30-31.

During this process, the City threw several roadblocks in Mr. Riley's way. The City's Disability and Leave Management Office ("DLM") informed Mr. Riley that they would not assist him unless he blindly accepted their accommodation process without knowing what, if any, jobs were available. RPH1 117-18. And that if no jobs were available, he would likely lose his employment. RPH1 117-18.

Furthermore, DLM referred Mr. Riley to HR for assistance, believing his claim was not actionable through the DLM office, either because it involved interpersonal conflicts or the office lacked the authority to investigate. RPH1 109-12. HR would then refer Riley back to DLM, claiming he had a medical condition and that only the DLM office could handle accommodations. RP 331-32. Because of this confusion, Riley directed DLM to work directly with his attorney because he "didn't understand the process." 9 RP at 1348.

DLM also told Mr. Riley that "interpersonal conflicts were not covered under ADA," but indicated that if he admitted his disability didn't arise from workplace conflict but from his medical condition, he would be accommodated with a new job. RP 632-33.

When Mr. Riley temporarily halted the accommodation process in June 2019, during a temporary assignment where his symptoms subsided, he later attempted to re-engage in July 2019 upon returning to the fire garage. RP 833, 835, 839-41, 842-45; Slip \bullet p. at 50. Dr. Seaholm sent a letter asking that the City accommodate Mr. Riley. Id. Even in January 2020, when asked if he was declining to engage in the accommodation process, Mr. Riley stated: "I'm not declining anything. I welcome any help I can get. But you have told me several times stress claims due to bullying and harassment are not covered under [ADA]." Slip ●p. at 50 (citing Ex. 202 at 16).

Despite Mr. Riley's repeated requests for help and applications to other City positions, the City did not

assist. Riley applied for a welding position and received confirmation from HR that he "did pass minimum qualifications" for the position. RP 312-13, 459, 461; Ex. 21A. Yet he was not selected because his score on supplemental questions was too low. RP 459, 461. Dr. Peter Blanck, Riley's expert disability on accommodations, testified that the City failed to engage in the proper interactive process and that a disabled employee who meets minimum qualifications for an open position should receive that position under ADA guidelines. RP 1011-15, 1016.

The City ultimately placed Riley on unpaid medical leave in May 2020 after Dr. Seaholm sent a letter stating Riley could no longer work at the fire garage due to his medical condition. Slip **O**p. at 40. When Riley failed to provide additional medical documentation that the City claimed it needed (despite

9

having received twelve letters from Dr. Seaholm and other providers), the City medically separated Riley on January 11, 2021. RP 375. The separation letter explicitly stated it was "based on [Mr. Riley's] inability to perform the essential functions (work in the Fire Garage) for an undetermined duration," effectively terminating him because his disability prevented him from working in the hostile environment that had caused his medical emergencies. RP 375; Ex. 165 at 2.

b. <u>Procedural Facts.</u>

Mr. Riley filed suit claiming a violation of the Washington Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60 ("WLAD"), and other claims. CP 1-7, 20-7 (Amended Complaint). The City moved for summary judgment on the WLAD claim, which the trial court partially denied. CP 436. At trial, the court granted the City's CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law based on the same evidence presented in the summary judgment motion. CP 607-08; RP 401. During argument on the motion, and in its ruling, the trial court repeatedly referenced its findings that Mr. Riley was not confused and that he knew what he was doing the entire time. RPH1 383, 385, 386-87. At one point the court rejected the argument Mr. Riley was confused stating

You're saying confused, but I don't get it. I don't' see what he was confused about. Every turn, he knew what he was doing. And he intentionally did not want to go down that road and he told them not to. I don't know what they are supposed to do when he tells them that.

RP 386-87.

Division Two affirmed because it claimed that Riley failed to cooperate in the interactive process. Slip •P. at 21-3. Judge Veljacic dissented, stating that he would have held that there were disputes of fact preventing dismissal. Slip **•**p. at 45. The judge noted there was substantial evidence Riley "was entitled to an accommodation, cooperated in the accommodations process (even though confused by the City's conduct), sought an accommodation that was not unreasonable as a matter of law, was qualified for an existing vacant position, and the City failed to accommodate him." Slip **•**p. at 45.

- F. ARGUMENT
 - 1. REVIEW IS WARRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(1), (B)(2), AND (B)(4).

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals misapplied the standard of review in affirming dismissal of a WLAD claim under CR 50, when the same issue was ruled on at summary judgment and there were disputes of fact. Further, the Court of Appeals did not address Mr. Riley's second argument that the trial court improperly denied his motion in limine to limit the City's use of old and irrelevant medical documents during its case.

2. THE COURTS BELOW FAILED TO VIEW THE EVIDENCE IN RILEY'S FAVOR

•n a CR 50 motion, courts are required to consider evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, here Mr. Riley. *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 181, 429 P.3d 484 (2018). The question is whether Riley's evidence if believed could lead a juror to find in his favor. *Id.* at 182. The question is not whether the trial court, or appellate court, believe the jury will be persuaded to find in his favor. *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 162 Wn.2d 488, 492, 173 P.3d 273 (2007).

WLAD claims are fact dependent, and as more question of facts arise, then logically, this less likely the case will be summarily dismissed. This is because when the evidence conflicts, the claim must be submitted to the jury to resolve. See Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs., Inc., 189 Wn. App. 776, 795, 258 P.3d 464 (2015) (affirming the denial of a CR 50 motion on a WLAD claim). In Clipse, the employer argued Clipse was not entitled to an accommodation because of their drug policy and that they did not need to change it to. Clipse, 189 Wn. App. at 795. The court, however, highlighted that there was conflicting testimony about whether CDS had a drug policy that prevented prescription drugs. Id.

This type of analysis and outcome can be seen in other civil cases involving elements of a claim that are inherently questions of fact. For example in *H.B.H.*, this Court affirmed the Court of Appeals in holding that the trial court improperly granted the defendant's CR 50 motion in a tort case. *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 181-82 (2018). There the issues focused on whether the State breached its duty of care and whether that breach was the cause of the plaintiff's damages. *Id.* This Court agreed with the Court of Appeals that dismissal was improper reasoning that the "testimony was certainly mixed" but that the "evidence [] showed DSHS breached its duty[,]" and credited the jury with drawing reasonable inferences. *Id.*

In rejecting the State's argument, that the courts relied on speculative evidence, this Court stated "[b]ut, crediting reasonable inferences is the stuff of juries, which is why courts generally leave questions of breach and causation for juries to decide." *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 182.

And in Schmidt v. Coogan, a legal malpractice case, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' dismissal of the plaintiff's claim. Schmidt, 162 Wn.2d at 491-92. Focusing on the evidence Schmidt presented at trial, this Court reasoned she had produced sufficient evidence to survive Coogan's motion for a judgment as a matter of law because there was evidence from which the jury could draw inferences that the store was on notice. *Schmidt*, 162 Wn.2d at 492. This Court reasoned that "Schmidt was not required to convince the trial judge or the Court of Appeals of the correctness of her position. At that stage of the proceeding, she was required to have produced only enough evidence so that a reasonable jury could return a verdict in her favor." *Id.*

In this case, these standards under CR 50 must be applied within the liberal construction of WLAD to effectuate its purpose of "preventing and eliminating discrimination." *State v. City of Sunnyside*, 3 Wn.3d 279, 316, 550 P.3d 31 (2024) (citing RCW 49.60.020). And as Division One noted in Singh v. State, 2021 Wn. App.

LEXIS 2083 (2021),¹

Claims under the WLAD are typically inappropriate for resolution at summary judgment "because the WLAD 'mandates liberal construction' and the evidence 'will generally contain reasonable but competing of both discrimination inferences and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by a jury." Johnson v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., RCW 4.16.080(2); Antonius v. King County, 153 Wn.2d 256, 261-62, 103 P.3d 256 (2004). 159 Wn. App. 18, 27, 244 P.2d 438 (2010) (footnote omitted) (quoting Martini v. Boeing Co., 137 Wn.2d 357, 364, 971 P.2d 45 (1999)); Davis v. W. One Auto Grp., 140 Wn. App. 449, 456, 166 P.2d 807 (2007).

Id. at $\mathbb{P}46$. A motion under CR 50 is analogous to a summary judgment motion as both take the case away from the fact finder/jury and constitute summary dismissals of claims by the court. Division Two's categorical approach directly contradicts this mandate by transforming what should be competing inference

¹ GR 14.1.

about employer/employee cooperation in to a legal rule that favors employers. And thus, there is a subtle conflict between Division One and Division Two on the summary dismissal of WLAD claims which this court should address. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The extensive factual disputes in this case demonstrates why CR 50 dismissal was improper. When a court must parse through competing narratives about an employee's state of mind, the adequacy of the employer's communications, the sufficiency of medical of documentation, the reasonableness the accommodation request, or disregarding expert witness testimony, the case has moved far beyond the realm of legal determination into factual territory that belongs exclusively to the jury. See Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross, 194 Wn.2d 296, 301, 449 P.3d 640 (2019) ("Generally speaking, expert opinion on an ultimate

18

question of fact is sufficient to establish a triable issue and defeat summary judgment.").

As in Schmidt, Riley was not required to prove the correctness or persuasiveness of his claims to either the trial court or Division Two. Rather, as in *H.B.H.* and *Clipse*, he was only required to present sufficient evidence from which the jury could reasonably draw an inference the City failed to reasonably accommodate him. *See H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 182 (sufficient evidence that if believed "would support a finding of breach."); *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 6Mr. 39 (employer failed to take proactive steps to assist disabled employee despite notice).

Here, Division Two erred when it looked at the City's defensive evidence in the light most favorable to the to them. Slip \bullet p. at 21. The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Riley failed to cooperate which included failing

additional medical documentation to give and disregarded clear communication from the city. Id. But that assertion disregards Mr. Riley's testimony that his doctors provided twelve letters and answered the City's medical questionnaires. That assertion also disregards Mr. Riley's testimony that he was confused about the process because of how the DLM and HR offices were treating him and his claim. Facts the dissent notes. Slip • p. at 49; Clipse v. Commercial Driver Servs., Inc., 189 Wn. App. 776, 794 (2015) (no abuse of discretion in denying CR 50 motion when CDS provided changing and conflicting justifications to not help Clipse).

And the City presented no evidence demonstrating why this sixth or seventh letter was necessary to be able to start the interactive process or that it would excuse their previous failure to engage Riley. *Dean v. Mun. of Metro Seattle*, 104 Wn.2d 627, 639, 708 P.2d 393 (1985) (establishing a prima facie case of discrimination Dean had to show that his employer did not take "appropriate affirmative steps to help him..."). The existence of the dissenting opinion, based on the same factual record, demonstrates that reasonable minds can differ about Mr. Riley's cooperation—precisely the types of factual disputes that require the jury to resolve.

> a. <u>The Court of Appeals decision contravenes</u> <u>the liberal mandate of WLAD by requiring</u> <u>strict adherence to the employer's</u> <u>technicalities.</u>

The Court of Appeals decision contravenes WLAD's liberal mandate by creating a rule that shields employers from liability. Under Division Two's reasoning, employers can escape their duties, and evade liability, by claiming the employee failed to "cooperate" even when the employer admits to taking no steps to assist the employee. This transforms employee conduct, and whether it prevented the employer from acting, from a fact question into a legal defense that potentially immunizes employer inaction.

WLAD "mandates liberal construction" to prevent employer-protective interpretations. *Martini v. Boeing Co.*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 364, 971 P.2d 45 (1999). WLAD claims are "inappropriate for resolution at summary judgment" because they involve "competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination that must be resolved by a jury." *Singh v. State*, 2021 Wn. App. LEXIS 2083, ¶46. Division Two's approach contradicts this mandate by resolving disputed inferences about employee cooperation as a matter of law.

The interactive process is "at the heart of the accommodation process." *Snapp v. United Transp. Union*, 889 F.3d 1088, 1095 (9th Cir. 2018). Within this process each participant must fulfill their duties to trigger the other party's obligations. *Goodman v. Boeing*

Co., 127 Wn.2d 401, 408, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995). However, the employer bears the burden because it controls information about available positions and accommodations. The employee's duty to cooperate does not excuse the employer's obligation to take steps once on notice of a disability.

Division Two's decision allows employers to evade WLAD liability through inaction. The City admits it took no steps to help Riley despite notice of his disability and accommodation requests. Ms. Marlenee testified she did not assist Mr. Riley. Yet Division Two excuses this failure by focusing on Riley's conduct. This rewards employer passivity and punishes employees who struggle to navigate bureaucratic processes.

Whether Riley's conduct prevented the City from fulfilling its accommodation duties is a factual question. The City cannot point to evidence that Mr. Riley's

23

behavior made accommodation impossible—only that it complicated their process. Under *Dean*, employers must take "affirmative steps to help" disabled employees. *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 639. Whether the City met this burden involves disputed facts about their efforts, their communications, and their demands for documentation.

This Court should accept review to clarify that employee cooperation in the interactive process remains a fact question that cannot be resolved as a matter of law. WLAD's liberal construction mandate requires that cases involving the interactive process be resolved by juries, not by the courts weighing competing narratives about employee conduct.

3. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED MEDICAL EVIDENCE THAT IS EXCLUDED BY STATUTE.

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