FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/18/2025 12:16 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1043121

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LIAM RILEY,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Defendant/Respondent.

CITY OF TACOMA'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER D. BACHA, City Attorney

Michelle N. Yotter WSBA No. 49075 Attorney for Respondent Tacoma City Attorney's Office 747 Market Street, Suite 1120 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 591-5885

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

B. The appellate decision below precisely and carefully considers and applies this Court's jurisprudence and that of the lower appellate courts.

Division II came to the only logical conclusion that could be reached in this matter - Riley engaged in gamesmanship and intentionally failed to cooperate with the City in his request for an accommodation. Despite numerous requests from the City, Riley never provided any medical documentation that established a nexus between his disability and his ability to perform the essential functions of his job. App. A at 32. After a de novo review of the record and taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Riley, Division II correctly concluded "Riley failed to provide required medical documentation: he was at best inconsistent as to whether he was requesting an accommodation, at times refusing to explore accommodation based on his disability, and he actively resisted reassignment as an accommodation." App A. at 32. Further, Division II rejected Riley's argument that he failed to cooperate with the City because he was confused by the since Riley's argument ignores accommodation process uncontroverted clear and substantial evidence to the contrary presented at trial. Id. at 34.

Division II correctly applied this Court's holding in Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas County, 189 Wn.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017), when it found that an employee's failure to adequately communicate essential information to the employer or to provide medical confirmation or documentation *is a basis* for dismissing the employee's claim as a matter of law.

In Riehl, this Court mandated that in order to establish a failure to accommodate claim, an "employee must come forward at summary judgment or trial with competent evidence establishing a nexus between the disability and the need for accommodation. This ensures that an employer violates its duty to accommodate only where the employee has proved a medical nexus exists and the employer fails to provide reasonable accommodations, absent a showing of undue hardship." Id., at 142. This Court further held: "the court has established a clear rule that where an employee determines he or she needs accommodation for a disability but fails to provide a medical nexus between the disability and the need for accommodation,

accommodation is not medically necessary. If accommodation is not medically necessary, it is unreasonable to require an employer to provide accommodation." <u>Id.</u>, at 147. "An employer may require medical documentation to show a nexus between the medical condition and the need for accommodation." Id., at 148.

The record here demonstrates that despite more than twelve (12) written requests from the City over a more than eighteen-month period, Riley <u>never</u> provided the City <u>any</u> medical documentation that established a nexus between Riley's alleged disabilities and his need for an accommodation. 2RP 158-161; Exs. 149, 150, 151, 153, 154, 155. Riley admits that in response to requests from the City regarding Riley's medical condition(s) and the impact thereof on his ability to perform the essential functions of his job, Riley either: (1) responded to the City refusing to provide the requested information and explicitly forbidding the City from contacting his medical providers or (2) Riley simply failed to respond at all. 2RP 11-14.

Division II also correctly applied Division I's holdings in Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 160 Wn. App. 765, 780, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011)("The employee has a duty to cooperate with the

employer's efforts by providing information about the employee's disability and qualifications, meaning their ability to perform the various functions of their position.") and <u>Gamble v. City of Seattle</u>, 6 Wn. App. 2d 883, 888, 431 P.3d 1091 (2018)(In order to prevail on a case for a failure to reasonably accommodate a disability, the plaintiff must present to the employer "medical documentation establish[ing] a reasonable likelihood that engaging in the job functions without an accommodation would create a substantially limiting effect[.]")

Despite clear Washington law, Riley suggests a jury should conclude that he cooperated in the have been allowed to accommodation process based on incomplete medical information and production of letters from his primary care provider, Dr. Seaholm. But Riley's position ignores that: (1) none of the evidence in the record, including Dr. Seaholm's letters, identified how Riley's disability impacted his ability to perform the essential functions of his position; and, (2) simultaneous to Riley's requests for accommodation, Dr. Seaholm's letters to the City repeatedly indicated that Riley could return to work without restrictions. See 2RP 157-58; Ex. 175.

The record clearly establishes that the City went to great lengths to understand the accommodation Riley needed specifically the City sought input from Riley's medical providers to establish the limits his medical conditions created in his ability to perform the essential functions of his job, but none of the information provided by Riley informed the City as to how Riley's disability impacted his ability to perform the essential functions of his position. Moreover, the uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that Riley intentionally blocked the City's ability to communicate with his medical providers and that Riley refused to provide the requested clarification because he did not want an accommodation. Ex. 113 p.13-15.

Riley argues that despite the numerous communications from the City, and even with the assistance of private counsel and his union representative, he was confused about the accommodation process as well as his obligation to cooperate and provide medical documentation to the City. Riley wrongly contends that his alleged confusion should excuse his failure to cooperate – but his position is unsupported by any precedent.

Moreover, Riley's position is belied by the record, as both the trial court and Division II appropriately concluded that the record undeniably establishes that Riley *did* understand the accommodation process and the medical information the City was seeking, but *intentionally undermined the City's efforts* for the purpose of furthering this litigation. 2RP 387; App. A at 17.

Based on the evidence Riley presented at trial, the trial court correctly concluded no reasonable juror could find that Riley cooperated with the City during the accommodation process as required – and after a *de novo* review of the record, Division II agreed.

IV. Procedural History

Riley filed his first employment related lawsuit, stemming from the same events discussed herein, against the City in the United States District Court ("USDC") in December 2019. CP 514. After more than a year of litigation, in January 2021, the City notified Riley's counsel that it intended to file summary judgment as to all of Riley's claims. CP 515. Almost immediately thereafter, Riley voluntarily dismissed his claims in the USDC. <u>Id.</u> Nine months later, in August 2021, Riley refiled his employment related

claims, this time in Pierce County Superior Court. <u>Id</u>. Through his second lawsuit, Riley asserted the following claims: (1) failure to accommodate under WLAD; (2) Retaliation under WLAD; (3)Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress ("IIED"); (4) Wrongful Termination under WLAD; and, (5) Hostile Work Environment under WLAD. <u>Id</u>.

The City moved for summary judgment on all claims. Pierce County Superior Court Judge, Thomas Quinlan, dismissed Riley's claims of retaliation and hostile work environment. CP 431-36. The trial court denied the motion as to the failure to accommodate claim and limited the claims of wrongful termination and IIED. Id. In its Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that "prior to his medical separation, Plaintiff was notified by Tacoma it was considering doing so and he was provided information with options to avoid separation; Plaintiff did not engage in the medical separation accommodation process, did not provide medical information requested and did not respond to several communications from the City." CP 435. The trial court indicated that it was unclear whether an employee's failure to cooperate in

the interactive process was dispositive of the failure to accommodate claim, and to that end, the trial court certified for review the following questions:

Does an employer have a duty to accommodate an employee when the employee fails to provide medical information explaining the nature and extent of the employee's disability and how the disability impacts the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of his job?

Is an employer liable for failing to accommodate an employee when the employee does not engage with the employer in the interactive process?

App. B.

Based on the trial court's *Order Granting Certification*, the City sought interlocutory review, but its request was denied. App. C.

The matter proceeded to trial, and the Honorable Judge Chushcoff¹ presided. Prior to the commencement of trial, Riley voluntarily dismissed his IIED claim. Trial proceeded on the failure to accommodate and wrongful termination claims only. At the

11

¹ The matter was transferred from Judge Quinlan (who presided of the City's summary judgment motion) to Judge Chushcoff (who presided over the trial) due to a judicial rotation.

close of Riley's case, the City moved under CR 50 for judgment as a matter of law on several bases. See 2RP 369:1-375:14.

The trial court granted the City's CR 50 motion, dismissing both the failure to accommodate and wrongful termination claims. The trial court explained that although it "rarely" grants CR 50 motions, here, even considering the evidence presented during Riley's case-in-chief in a light most favorable to Riley, it was "crystal clear" that Riley did not cooperate with the City's efforts in the reasonable accommodation process. 2RP 401. The trial court concluded that Riley "didn't cooperate because he did not want to go through the ADA process. Now he's suing them because they didn't do it. I got a problem with that. And although I rarely do this, I'm going to grant the [CR 50] motion." <u>Id.</u>

Riley sought review by Division II of the summary dismissal of the hostile work environment claim, the granting of his voluntary CR 41 motion for dismissal of the IIED claim, the CR50 dismissal of the failure to accommodate claim², and the trial court's denial

² Riley did not appeal the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of his retaliation claim to Division II; also, Riley did not appeal the trial court's CR 50 dismissal of his wrongful termination claim to Division II. Through his *Petition*, Riley does not challenge Division II's holding affirming dismissal of his hostile work environment claim or affirming dismissal of his IIED claim. As such, the only issues before this Court are review of: (1) Division II's

of his motion in limine attempting to block introduction of some historic medical records. In a split decision, Division II affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Riley's failure to accommodate claim finding that "there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a conclusion that Riley fulfilled his obligation to cooperate with the City and to provide the medical documentation the City was entitled to obtain. A fair-minded, rational person could not conclude that Riley adequately cooperated in the interactive process with the City." App. A at 36.

Division II did not reach a conclusion as to the admission of the medical records as it found that issue irrelevant based on Riley's failure to cooperate. <u>Id.</u>, at footnote 3. Additionally, Riley did not include argument or explanation related to his IIED claim, as such Division II declined to address this issue³. Id.

Riley now seeks review of Division II's decision affirming the CR 50 dismissal of Riley's failure to accommodate claim and the

affirmation of the CR 50 dismissal of the failure to accommodate claim; and, (2) the trial court's ruling permitting the admission of historic medical information.

³ The dissent opined that it would affirm the trial court's ruling as to both the dismissal of the IIED claim and also the admission of the historic medical records. App. A, at 83-84.

trial court's ruling allowing the introduction of limited historic medical information. See Petition.

V. Reasons This Court Should Deny Review

The true focus of Riley's *Petition* rests on his position that Division II erred in assigning weight to the evidence when arriving at its decision. See, e.g., *Petition* at 19 (asserting that "Division Two erred when it looked at the City's defensive evidence in the light most favorable to the [*sic*] to them."). However, even if Division II erred (which it did not) such an error is not a proper basis upon which this Court can accept review:

[P]erceived injustice should not be the focus of attention in the petition for review. Although the well-drafted petition should awaken in the court uncertainty whether justice has been done, RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances of injustice. The Supreme Court, in passing upon a petition for review, is not operating as a court of error, but rather is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. Its concern is with the general state of the law, not particular applications of it, whether involving the state constitution, statutory or regulatory law, or the common law. The court grants review when it is convinced that a significant point of law must be decided or clarified.

Washington Appellate Practice Deskbook (WSBA) §18.2.

Because the Washington Supreme Court is not an "errorcorrecting" court, its review is limited to certain categories of cases in the exercise of its discretion within the Rules of Appellate Procedure. See RAP 13.4(b). Here, Riley has not identified a significant point of law that this Court needs to decide. Accordingly, this Court should decline Riley's invitation for this Court to review this matter substantively.

A. Riley fails to identify any conflict between the decision of Division II below and the decisions of this Court, thus his request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) must be denied.

Riley bases his argument that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) upon this Court's holding in <u>H.B.H. v. State</u>, 192 Wn.2d 154, 429 P.3d 484 (2018). *Petition* at 13. <u>H.B.H.</u> has no application here. <u>H.B.H.</u> involved claims by former foster children who asserted that the State was negligent in protecting them from abuse that occurred during their placement in a foster home. <u>Id.</u>, at 158. The trial court incorrectly determined that the State owed the children no duty during pre-adoption foster care and dismissed the matter under CR 50. <u>Id.</u>, at 159. On review, Division II reversed the <u>H.B.H.</u> trial court, finding that a special relationship existed between the State and the plaintiffs giving rise to a common law duty. <u>Id.</u>, at 158-59. This Court affirmed Division II's

holding in <u>H.B.H.</u> as to application of the common law duty and also explained that by applying the correct duty (which the trial court failed to do) the plaintiffs had enough evidence upon which a reasonable jury could find in their favor. <u>Id.</u>, at 181. Differentiating <u>H.B.H.</u>, there is no dispute as to the application of duty by the trial court in Riley's case. As such, there is no conflict between Division II's holding below and this Court's opinion in H.B.H.

Similarly, Riley's reliance on Schmidt v. Coogan, 162 Wn. 2d 488, 173 P.3d 273(2007) misses the mark. *Petition* at 15. As Riley correctly explains, a plaintiff must come forward with "enough evidence so that a reasonable jury could return a verdict in her [i.e., the plaintiff's] favor." *Petition* at 16. Through his *Petition*, Riley fails to acknowledge that he produced **no evidence** to establish that he gave the City the medical information which it was entitled to, and Riley fails to acknowledge that the uncontroverted evidence established that he intentionally failed to cooperate in the accommodation process. For those reasons, the trial court determined that there was *no evidence*

upon which a reasonable juror could find in Riley's favor, and after de novo review Division II agreed.

Riley cannot demonstrate **any conflict** between Division II's holding below and previous decisions of this Court – the request for review set out in the *Petition* based on RAP 13.4(b)(1) should be denied.

B. Riley fails to identify any conflict between the Washington Appellate Courts, thus his request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) must be denied.

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